
  United States Court of Appeals
For the Eighth Circuit

___________________________

No. 16-3065
___________________________

United States of America,

lllllllllllllllllllll Plaintiff - Appellee,

v.

Zia Iqbal,

lllllllllllllllllllll Defendant - Appellant.
____________

Appeal from United States District Court 
for the Eastern District of Missouri - St. Louis

____________

 Submitted: January 13, 2017
 Filed: August 23, 2017

____________

Before COLLOTON, GRUENDER, and KELLY, Circuit Judges.
____________

COLLOTON, Circuit Judge.

Following a bench trial, the district court convicted Zia Iqbal on four federal

criminal charges:  three counts of soliciting or receiving an illegal kickback related

to a federal health-care program and one count of making a false statement to federal
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agents.  The district court1 sentenced Iqbal to two years of probation on each count,

to be served concurrently.  Iqbal appeals, arguing that there was insufficient evidence

to support his convictions.  We affirm.

I.

In March 2011, Iqbal met Millie Saeger, the administrator and minority owner

of Patient Care Professionals (PCP), a skilled-medical-home-care agency that

provides nursing and various therapy services.  Iqbal stated that he managed a large

group of physicians and that the physicians were looking for home care agencies to

refer their patients.  He explained that he could refer patients to PCP in return for a

share of the profits made from the services to those patients.  Saeger said that she was

not interested in the arrangement.

Believing Iqbal’s proposal to be unlawful, Saeger contacted the Office of

Inspector General of the United States Department of Health and Human Services and

spoke with a special agent.  The agent commenced an undercover operation at PCP

with the hope of obtaining audio or video evidence of Iqbal proposing an illegal

transaction.

On March 16, 2011, Iqbal met with Saeger and Special Agent Linda Hanley,

who was playing the undercover role of Linda Livesay, financial manager of PCP and

the daughter of Cecil Livesay, the principal owner of PCP.  Iqbal touted his strong

relationship with physicians through his management company, reiterated the referral

relationship that he had in mind, and said that he desired a fifty-fifty split of all profit

PCP obtained from its services to the referred patients.  Iqbal said that the

arrangement would be on strong legal footing because PCP would not compensate the

1The Honorable Catherine D. Perry, United States District Judge for the Eastern
District of Missouri.
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referring physicians.  He also stated that he would compensate the physicians

indirectly by discounting the services that he provided to the physicians through his

management company.

To mask the profit-splitting scheme, Iqbal suggested that the parties enter into

a consulting agreement whereby Iqbal would purport to provide various services to

PCP.  Iqbal explained to Saeger and Hanley that he would send invoices to PCP for

financial, marketing, and patient education services that he would purportedly

perform, but that the invoice amount would always reflect fifty percent of the profits

PCP earned from the patients that Iqbal would send to the company.  Iqbal made clear

that the purpose of these invoices was to ensure that any money exchanged between

Iqbal and PCP had a valid paper trail so that the arrangement between the parties

appeared legitimate.

The parties eventually signed a consulting agreement with the terms that Iqbal

had outlined in his meetings with Saeger and Hanley.  At trial, Saeger testified that

she understood that the consulting agreement was created to “cover the legalities of

paying sums of money to Mr. Iqbal,” and that Iqbal would never actually perform any

services for PCP.  Iqbal never sent invoices to PCP or performed any services for the

company. 

On April 14, Iqbal e-mailed to Saeger the medical records for a patient of Dr.

Siddiqui, a doctor with whom Iqbal had an ongoing consulting relationship.  A few

days later, Saeger received another e-mail from Iqbal providing a prescription for

home-health nursing care for the patient.  PCP performed services for the patient and

was reimbursed partly through Medicaid.

Iqbal later arranged a meeting with Saeger and Hanley at Dr. Siddiqui’s office

to introduce them to the doctor.  Iqbal said that PCP should communicate with Dr.

Siddiqui’s staff about any patient referred from Dr. Siddiqui’s office, but Iqbal said
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that he would get involved and retrieve patient records if PCP believed that it was not

getting the response it desired.

In May, Iqbal sent Saeger an e-mail that provided the telephone number of a

Dr. Bhutto.   Iqbal explained that Dr. Bhutto had a patient in need of PCP’s services

and that Saeger should contact Dr. Bhutto regarding a referral.  Saeger called Dr.

Bhutto, and PCP later received the patient, provided services to her, and billed for

reimbursement through Medicare.  In an August meeting with Iqbal, Saeger explained

that PCP could not provide additional therapy for Dr. Bhutto’s patient because the

doctor had not signed two necessary documents.  Iqbal told Saeger that he and Dr.

Bhutto were together every weekend and that he would have the doctor sign the

documents.  

After both patients received home-health care services, and PCP was

reimbursed by Medicaid and Medicare, Saeger provided Iqbal a check for $600,

representing fifty percent of the profits that PCP made from the services provided to

the two patients.  Saeger later provided Iqbal with a check for $275, which equaled

fifty percent of the profits that PCP received from Medicare for additional services

provided to Dr. Bhutto’s patient.

The relationship between Iqbal and PCP continued throughout 2011 and most

of 2012.  During this time, Iqbal introduced Saeger and Hanley to another doctor with

patients who needed home-health care services.  In October 2012, the government

executed a search warrant at Iqbal’s residence.  During the search, federal agents

interviewed Iqbal.  The agents asked him whether he referred or funneled patients to

a health-care provider in exchange for money or something of value, and whether he

had promised anyone anything for funneling patients.  Iqbal denied having done

either.  The agents did not find any documents or invoices related to the consulting

agreement that Iqbal entered into with PCP.
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A grand jury charged Iqbal with two counts of health-care fraud, in violation

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347(a)(1) and 2, three counts of soliciting or receiving an illegal

kickback, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A) and 18 U.S.C. § 2, and one

count of making a false statement, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2).  After the

district court granted the government’s motion to dismiss the health-care fraud

counts, the case proceeded to a bench trial.  The district court found Iqbal guilty on

each of the four remaining counts and sentenced him to two years of probation on

each count, to be served concurrently.  Iqbal appeals, arguing that his convictions are

not supported by sufficient evidence.  We review the sufficiency of the evidence after

a bench trial in the light most favorable to the verdict, upholding the verdict if a

reasonable factfinder could find the offense proved beyond a reasonable doubt. 

United States v. Kain, 589 F.3d 945, 948 (8th Cir. 2009).

II.

The district court found Iqbal guilty on three charges under the anti-kickback

statute.  As to each, the court identified one element of the charge as proof that Iqbal

solicited or received a payment that was “paid primarily in order to induce the referral

of patients insured by Medicare or Medicaid.”  The court then found that the

“evidence showed, beyond a reasonable doubt, that defendant solicited kickbacks,

represented that he could control the referrals, and actually received money for the

few referrals that were made through his efforts.”  

On Count Three, concerning solicitation of a kickback on March 16, 2011, the

court found that the payments solicited by Iqbal were “for the purpose of inducing

PCP to make the referrals.”   On Counts Four and Five, concerning the receipt of

payments on June 29 and August 9, 2011, the court found that Iqbal “clearly both

solicited and received payments in return for his causing patients to be referred to

PCP.”  The court further found that Iqbal “accepted remuneration for inducing the

referrals.”  On the false-statement charge, the court found that Iqbal’s statements in
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response to questions from the federal agents were knowingly and materially false. 

The court said that “Iqbal knew his denials were untrue because he had in fact

received money from PCP for causing the referrals to be made to PCP.”

The statute makes it unlawful to “solicit[] or receive[] any remuneration . . . in

return for referring” a person for services that may be paid for under a federal health-

care program.  42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A) (emphasis added).2  Iqbal does not

dispute the district court’s premise that a person violates the statute by inducing or

causing a referral in exchange for a kickback.  In his post-trial motion for judgment

of acquittal, he expressly acknowledged that one “element” of the anti-kickback

statute is “proof that the person receiving remuneration either directly caused or

induced the causing of the referral.”  R. Doc. 60, at 6 (emphasis added).  His brief on

appeal asks for review of the sufficiency of the evidence, and argues that “there was

no evidence presented that defendant either caused or induced a patient to be

referred” to a home health agency.  Appellant’s Br. 4 (emphasis added).  At oral

argument, he argued that a conviction required proof that the defendant was able to

“cause” a referral.  While Iqbal also argues on appeal that he did not “exercise any

level of control over the referral[s],” he has accepted that “causing” or “inducing” a

referral is sufficient “control” to satisfy the requirement of taking an act “in return for

referring an individual.”  Whatever the possible merit of a narrower interpretation of

the statute, it was not raised and is not before us.  See United States v. Jackson, No.

16-10946, 2017 WL 1969667, at *9 n.9 (11th Cir. May 12, 2017); United States v.

2The statute provides:

[W]hoever knowingly and willfully solicits or receives any remuneration
(including any kickback, bribe, or rebate) directly or indirectly, overtly
or covertly, in cash or in kind— (A) in return for referring an individual
to a person for the furnishing or arranging for the furnishing of any item
or service for which payment may be made in whole or in part under a
Federal health care program . . . shall be guilty of a felony . . . .
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Forster, 549 F. App’x 757, 762 n.2 (10th Cir. 2013).  We will therefore consider the

sufficiency of the evidence on the assumption that Iqbal was properly convicted if he

solicited or received remuneration in return for causing or inducing the referral of

patients to PCP.

The partial dissent, post, at 9-10, argues that because Iqbal challenged the

sufficiency of the evidence to support his conviction, we must decide whether the

district court properly interpreted the statute.  The cited authority, United States v.

Gentry, 555 F.3d 659 (8th Cir. 2009), does not support the proposition.  Neither do

the rules of procedure.  Gentry was a case in which the appellant did challenge the

district court’s interpretation of the relevant statute, so this court unsurprisingly said

that “[w]hen a sufficiency argument hinges on the interpretation of a statute, we

review the district court’s statutory interpretation de novo.”  Id. at 664.  Gentry does

not say that if an appellant accepts the district court’s interpretation of a statute and

challenges only the sufficiency of the evidence under that standard, then this court

must sua sponte address the meaning of the statute.  We have said over and over that

“[i]ssues not raised in a party’s opening brief are waived.”  United States v. Rice, 699

F.3d 1043, 1050 (8th Cir. 2012); see Fed. R. App. P. 28(a)(8)(A) (“The appellant’s

brief must contain . . . appellant’s contentions and the reasons for them.”).  The

waiver applies with even greater force when the appellant conceded an issue in the

district court.  Under the circumstances here, we decline to exercise any discretion to

raise the issue.  Cf. U.S. Nat’l Bank of Or. v. Indep. Ins. Agents of Am., Inc., 508 U.S.

439, 447-48 (1993). 

Count Three of the indictment charged Iqbal with soliciting a kickback from

PCP in the form of a fifty-fifty profit-sharing arrangement for his referring Medicare

and Medicaid patients to PCP.  The evidence showed that Iqbal met with Saeger and

Hanley on March 16, 2011, and explained that he would refer Medicare and Medicaid

patients to PCP if the company agreed to give him fifty percent of any profits made
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from services provided to those patients.  Iqbal represented that given the breadth of

his relationships with local physicians, the parties could each make $10,000 per

month through the arrangement.  Iqbal’s proposal is sufficient to support his

conviction on Count Three that he solicited a kickback in return for eventually

causing or inducing the referral of patients to PCP.

Count Four of the indictment charged Iqbal with the receipt of $600 in return

for referring two patients to PCP, one from Dr. Siddiqui and one from Dr. Bhutto. 

Count Five of the indictment charged Iqbal with the receipt of $275, which

represented fifty percent of the profits from additional services provided to Dr.

Bhutto’s patient.

The evidence on Count Four showed that on April 14 and 17, 2011, Iqbal sent

two e-mails to Saeger regarding Dr. Siddiqui’s patient. The first e-mail contained an

attachment with the patient’s medical information.  In the second e-mail, Iqbal

explained that he had an original prescription for home-health nursing care for the

patient that he could give to Saeger when they met at Dr. Siddiqui’s office later that

week.  Iqbal also attached a copy of the prescription.  It was signed by Dr. Siddiqui

and prescribed “home health nursing care,” but it did not list a specific health-care

provider for the services, so Iqbal’s transmission of the prescription to Saeger allowed

PCP to provide services to the patient.  After Iqbal sent these e-mails, he set up a

meeting at Dr. Siddiqui’s office so that Saeger and Hanley could meet the doctor.  At

that meeting, the doctor explained that Iqbal told him about PCP and that the doctor

had more patients for PCP.  Iqbal also informed Saeger and Hanley that he had access

to Dr. Siddiqui’s patient files if PCP needed them quickly.  It was therefore

reasonable for the district court to infer that Iqbal caused or induced the referral of Dr.

Siddiqui’s patient to PCP.
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As relevant to Counts Four and Five, the evidence also showed that in May,

Iqbal sent another e-mail to Saeger explaining that Dr. Bhutto had a patient for PCP,

and that Saeger should call the doctor to set up the services for the patient.  After

Saeger called Dr. Bhutto, PCP began providing services to the patient.  In August,

Iqbal told Saeger that he was with Dr. Bhutto every weekend and would have Dr.

Bhutto sign necessary documents so that PCP could provide further services to the

patient.  In light of Iqbal’s statements about his relationship with Dr. Bhutto and

Iqbal’s admitted plan to provide reduced-fee consulting services to physicians in

return for their referring patients to PCP, a reasonable factfinder could infer that Iqbal

induced Dr. Bhutto to refer his patient to PCP on this occasion.  Therefore, there was

sufficient evidence to support Iqbal’s convictions on Counts Four and Five.

Iqbal complains finally that his conviction for making a false statement “rests

entirely on the premise that he violated the Anti-Kickback Statute.”  He contends that

if his convictions for violating § 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A) are overturned, then his

conviction for making a false statement should be reversed as well.  Because we

conclude that sufficient evidence supports Iqbal’s convictions on Counts Three, Four,

and Five, his challenge to the false-statement conviction fails as well.

*          *          *

The judgment of the district court is affirmed.

KELLY, Circuit Judge, concurring in part and dissenting in part.

A defendant is guilty of violating § 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A) when he has solicited

or received kickbacks “in return for referring an individual to a person for the

furnishing” of a service.  Asserting that Iqbal has not disputed the district court’s

interpretation of the statute, the court assumes without deciding that Iqbal violated
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the statute “if he solicited or received remuneration in return for causing or inducing

the referral of patients to PCP.”  But in my view, because Iqbal challenges the district

court’s finding that he solicited or received kickbacks in exchange for “referring”

patients, we must interpret that term’s meaning before we can determine whether

sufficient evidence supports his convictions under the statute.  See United States v.

Gentry, 555 F.3d 659, 664 (8th Cir. 2009) (“When a sufficiency argument hinges on

the interpretation of a statute, we review the district court’s statutory interpretation

de novo.”).  Even if Iqbal concedes that § 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A) applies to a defendant

who “causes” or “induces” a referral, we are not bound by a party’s concessions of

law to decide a case based on a hypothetical legal standard.  See U.S. Nat’l Bank of

Or. v. Indep. Ins. Agents of Am., Inc., 508 U.S. 439, 447 (1993) (“[A] court may

consider an issue ‘antecedent to and ultimately dispositive of’ the dispute before it,

even an issue the parties fail to identify and brief.” (internal alteration omitted)

(quoting Arcadia v. Ohio Power Co., 498 U.S. 73, 77 (1990)).

We have not previously defined referring in the context of

§ 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A).  However, other circuits have considered the meaning of “refer”

under another subsection of the same statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A), which

makes it a crime to offer remuneration to a person “to induce such person . . . to refer

an individual . . . for the furnishing” of a service.  Those cases suggest that a person

refers an individual for a service only when, as a practical matter, the person exercises

decision-making control over the selection of the service provider.  Compare United

States v. Vernon, 723 F.3d 1234, 1245–46 (11th Cir. 2013) (patient advocate who

was responsible for choosing where clients filled prescriptions referred clients to the

defendant’s pharmacy), and United States v. Polin, 194 F.3d 863, 864–66 (7th Cir.

1999) (pacemaker sales representative who was responsible for selecting outside

monitoring services, albeit only with a doctor’s authorization, referred patients to the

defendants’ monitoring service), with United States v. Miles, 360 F.3d 472, 479–80

(5th Cir. 2004) (marketing firm did not refer patients to a home health service where
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the firm distributed promotional materials to doctors’ offices on behalf of the service,

but did not control the doctors’ selection of services).

Using this definition of referring, I would conclude that insufficient evidence

supports Iqbal’s convictions for receiving kickbacks as charged in Counts Four and

Five because the government failed to establish that he exercised decision-making

control over Dr. Siddiqui’s or Dr. Bhutto’s referrals.  With respect to Dr. Siddiqui, as

the district court noted:  “Although it is clear from the context that Iqbal had some

relationship with the doctor and was apparently providing some services to him, there

is no evidence . . . that he actually managed this doctor’s practice, as he had

represented to PCP.”  Similarly, with respect to Dr. Bhutto, the evidence establishes

merely that Iqbal told Saeger to contact Dr. Bhutto’s staff for a referral—evidence

which may demonstrate Iqbal had some type of relationship with Bhutto, but not that

Iqbal exercised decision-making control over Dr. Bhutto’s referrals.  However, I

would affirm Iqbal’s conviction for soliciting kickbacks as charged in Count Three,

because in my view, sufficient evidence supports the conclusion that at their March

16, 2011, meeting, Iqbal held himself out to Saeger as having the ability to make

referrals in exchange for payment, regardless of his actual ability to do so.  I would

also affirm Iqbal’s conviction for making a false statement, for the reasons explained

by the court.  Accordingly, I concur in part and dissent in part from the court’s

opinion.

______________________________
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